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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE DEPUTY PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN
	Applicant
	Mr N Webber

	Scheme
	Teachers’ Pension Scheme (the Scheme)

	Respondent(s) 
	Department for Education (DfE)


Subject

Mr Webber has complained about the recovery of an overpayment of his pension from the Scheme.

Appeal

I originally issued a determination on 26 June 2012, which Mr Webber subsequently appealed. Following a decision in the High Court, on 22 November 2012, the matter has been remitted to me for reconsideration with particular reference to the following questions:

· whether Mr Webber was aware that he had been overpaid and if so on what grounds;
· whether Mr Webber ought to have been aware that he had been overpaid in the sense that he was guilty of sharp practice and if so, on what grounds; and
· in respect of each element of alleged expenditure to his detriment, whether it would have been incurred in any event and/or was a detriment and in each case giving reasons. 
What follows is my further determination of Mr Webber’s complaint.

The Deputy Pensions Ombudsman’s determination and short reasons

The complaint should not be upheld against DfE because: 
· The information provided by Teachers’ Pensions (TP) was not misleading and, in my judgment, Mr Webber knew that he was required to provide TP with information about his salary each tax year following his re-employment.

· Mr Webber was aware that he had been overpaid but “turned a blind eye” to the information he was given, and the action he should have taken, in the hope that the overpayment would go unnoticed. 
· As I have found that Mr Webber was aware of the requirement to complete a Certificate of re-employment each tax year following his re-employment the defence of change of position falls away, although as required, each item of expenditure is considered in greater detail below. 
DETAILED DETERMINATION

Scheme Regulations and Literature

1. Regulation H3(2) of the Teachers' Pension Regulations 1997 (as amended) (the Regulations) states:

“Employers are, within such reasonable time as he may require, to make to the Secretary of State such reports and returns, and to give him such information about persons to whom this paragraph applies, as he may reasonably require for the purposes of his functions under these Regulations; and such persons, and their personal representatives, are to give him such information and to produce such documents as he may reasonably require for those purposes.”
2. Regulation H3(4) states:

“Without prejudice to paragraph (2) a person who has become entitled to payment of a teacher's pension and who takes up employment such as is described in regulation E14(1) shall-

(a)
within 14 days of taking up such employment notify the Secretary of State giving details of the salary in the employment; and

(b)
within 14 days of any change in salary notify the Secretary of State.

3. Leaflet 192 is a booklet issued by TP about returning to work after age or premature retirement. It sets out the type of work that will and will not affect a pension and also covers part-time work, supply work and employment agencies. 
4. The October 1996 edition of Leaflet 192 says,

“If you want to return to work after you retire, or if you have already done so, you should let Customer Direct Pension Section know at once, even if you think the work will not affect your pension…
If you return to work but do not tell us your pension will continue to be paid in full. When we do find out (from you, from your employer, from HM Inspector of Taxes or from the DSS) then we will work out how the work has affected your pension. We will then take action to get back any amounts which you have received but were not entitled to…

‘Salary of Reference’ 

Your salary of reference is:

· The highest salary you have received during your last three years of teaching or

· The highest annual rate you received during the three years before you were entitled to your pension;

whichever is the greater.

Customer Direct Pensioner Section uses your salary of reference to work out how much you can earn before it affects your pension. Your salary of reference is index-linked each year at the same percentage as your pension. This means that the money you earn after you retire can increase without affecting your pension.   

Reducing your Pension

We will reduce your pension if:

· you work full time and your salary rate and annual pension exceed the index linked salary of reference;…

If you are re-employed full-time, we will decide how much to reduce your pension when you first return to work. This amount will not change if you have a general salary increase. But if your salary increases, for example because you have been promoted or have received an allowance for special responsibilities, we will work out the new calculation…” 

5. The May 2001 edition of Leaflet 192 says,

“Salary of Reference is the highest annual salary received in the last three year period of pensionable employment prior to retirement. It is notified to the teacher upon retirement…The salary of reference is increased each April in line with the cost of living…

Regulations provide that if a teacher undertakes re-employment of a type which may affect their pension (as described above) in any tax year...Abatement works by calculating the number of days the pension can be paid in the tax year before the salary of reference is exceeded. The pension is then suspended for the rest of the tax year. A new assessment is done in each tax year....

Teachers' Pensions (Pensioner Administration Team) must be notified of the re-employment within 14 days of its commencement...
We cannot emphasis too strongly the importance of notifying Teachers' Pensions promptly

...It is equally important that the teacher and the employer notify Teachers' Pensions that the re-employment has ended...

The teacher must also inform the Pensioner Administration Team if:

...

-The salary rate / hourly rate / daily rate changes.

Note: ...

If the Pensioner Administration Team are not informed of re-employment or any change which causes an overpayment of annual pension, the teacher must repay that sum promptly...

...the annual pension position will be re-assessed at the start of the next tax year and the process will be repeated for as long as the re-employment continues or if circumstances change.

...It should be used by the teacher and employer to notify Teachers' Pensions of the re-employment. Instructions for completion are given on the Certificate.”

Legislation 

6. Section 32 (1) of the Limitation Act 1980 - Postponement of limitation period in case of fraud, concealment or mistake states that:

“(1)..., where in the case of any action for which a period of limitation is prescribed by this Act, either-

(a)
...

(b)
...or

(c)
the action is for relief from the consequences of a mistake;

the period of limitation shall not begin to run until the plaintiff has discovered the fraud, concealment or mistake (as the case may be) or could with reasonable diligence have discovered it.”

Material Facts

7. Mr Webber worked as a teacher and was a member of the Scheme. He applied for and was granted premature retirement with effect from 1 April 1997.

8. The application form completed by Mr Webber on 10 February 1997 said "Subsequent teaching employment may result in a reduction or suspension of your pension". The declaration on the application said "I will inform the Pensioner Services Section at the TPA if I become employed in education at any time during my retirement."

9. On 15 March 1997, Teachers’ Pensions (TP) wrote to Mr Webber giving details of his pension and lump sum. The October 1996 edition of Leaflet 192 was enclosed with the letter.

10. Mr Webber rang TP on, he says, either 28 or 29 May 2001. Mr Webber says that during this telephone conversation he was reassured by TP that as long as his income remained below the top of the main scale, he "should be all right".  
11. On 29 May 2001, in response to the telephone call from Mr Webber, TP issued another copy of Leaflet 192 and a Certificate of re-employment. The Certificate of re-employment said "Please complete Part A in BLOCK LETTERS, then pass to your employer to complete Part B." The letter said:

“If you are in teaching employment please complete Part A of the enclosed Certificate of Re-employment and forward the entire certificate to your employer for completion and submission to Pensioner Services...If, upon assessment, it is found that your retirement income will exceed your index linked salary of reference, we will calculate and inform you of the date at which your pension will be suspended...The pension(s) will be reinstated at the beginning of the following tax year and the whole process is then repeated each tax year, for as long as your employment continues...

If your circumstances change during a tax year, please call our Pensioner Contact Centre on 01325 745547 and a new Certificate of re-employment will be issued. If your employment continues into the next tax year, you should also contact us again in April of that tax year and a new certificate specific to that assessment period will be issued.

12. In September 2001, TP received a Certificate of re-employment completed by Mr Webber and his employer, Durham County Council, showing that Mr Webber had begun full-time employment with effect from 1 September 2001.

13. On 22 October 2001, TP wrote to Mr Webber as follows:

“You will be pleased to learn that your annual pension is not affected, based on earnings of £14,491.00 for the period 6 April 2001 to 5 April 2002. Your earnings limit for this tax year is £20,837.10 and does not take account of mandatory compensation and/or any discretionary enhancement payments. However, please note that if you attain age 55 during this tax year your annual earnings limit will be reduced. If your earnings during this tax year do not exceed that figure, your annual pension will remain unaffected.

Should your circumstances change (i.e. 55th birthday, change of post, increase in hours or annual salary), please complete the enclosed Certificate of re-employment and forward the whole Certificate to your employer for completion and submission to Pensioner Services. Failure to do so may result in an overpayment of annual pension which you will have to repay promptly.”

Mr Webber says that he did not receive this letter until the week commencing 11 February 2002. 

14. Mr Webber next wrote to TP in April 2004 advising TP of his new address and also that he had married on 7 December 2002.

15. On 19 January 2009, TP wrote to Mr Webber and said that they had recently received information from Durham County Council about his employment with them. Mr Webber was asked to complete a Certificate of re-employment.

16. Mr Webber returned the completed Certificate of re-employment on 19 February 2009 and said:

“Before I accepted the contract to work as a Maths teacher at Wellfield School, I contacted Mowden Hall by telephone and asked if there would be any consequences to my pension of taking up employment. I was informed that there would not: my salary then plus pension would be less than necessary and I was also taking up employment in a shortage subject for which I remember there was special consideration in this respect...”

17. Mr Webber was advised in a letter dated 24 November 2009 that his earnings and pension had exceeded his index linked salary of reference in each tax year from 2002/03 to 2008/09 and so his pension should have been abated. The gross overpayments in these tax years amounted to £37,572.30 which following a tax adjustment of £1,289.77 left a net overpayment of £36,282.53.

18. On 29 July 2010, TP received Mr Webber's application for further retirement benefits in respect of his additional service up to 31 August 2010.

19. On 15 October 2010, TP wrote to Mr Webber with details of his additional retirement benefits. The letter said:

“Teachers' Pensions must seek recovery of any monies incorrectly paid out of public funds. The net outstanding amount of £37,259.21 has therefore been offset against the lump sum of £10,672.45 which is due to you in respect of your additional retirement benefits, and a balance of overpaid pension amounting to £26,586.76 remains to be recovered...”

20. Mr Webber sought advice from the Pensions Advisory Service and following further correspondence DfE wrote to Mr Webber asking him to agree to repay the outstanding amount at £200 per month subject to certain conditions. The letter said:

“I also understand that you have reduced the amount outstanding substantially by surrendering the lump sum you accrued following your Elected Further Employment amounting to £10,672.45, and that you have also sent a cheque to TP for £3,775. This has resulted in an outstanding balance of £26,596.76 left to be paid...

Having carefully considered your position I am willing to accept this offer if you agree to the following:

-The rate of repayment is reviewed annually

-A charge for the outstanding amount is placed against your property.”
21. Mr Webber responded to DfE on 9 August 2011. He rejected DfE's suggestion to place a charge on his property and said that he did not surrender his lump sum payment but that it was offset without his knowledge which was in breach of Section 91 of Pensions Act 1995.

22. DfE sent a further letter to Mr Webber on 16 August 2011 and said:

“TP's decision to withhold the lump sum from your further pension benefits is to fulfil their obligations to recover public money that has mistakenly been overpaid - and it is common practice where there is a debt for the scheme member, to use their retirement lump sum to off-set the amount owed. This would always be our preferred option to secure some of the overpayment. That said, under the terms of Section 91 of the Pensions Act 1995, offsetting of further pension is to be undertaken only where the member does not dispute the process. I note from your correspondence that you are not content with the process, but you have not as yet disputed the action. If you would now like me to make payment of the withheld lump sum of £10,672.45, I can arrange for TP to do this. However, you should note that your debt will then rise again to £37,259.21, which will be pursued robustly...”
Submissions given on behalf of Mr Webber 
23. Submissions, insofar as they relate to the matter before me, given on behalf of Mr Webber are summarised below.
Whether Mr Webber was aware, or ought to have been aware, that he had been overpaid. 

Mr Webber categorically denies he was aware that he was receiving overpayments of pension. He says that no inference of fact that he had actual knowledge and was therefore acting dishonestly can be properly drawn from the documents.

The charge that Mr Webber turned a blind eye to the fact that he was being overpaid seriously impugns Mr Webber’s good character and therefore the only proper way forward is for the Ombudsman to hold an oral hearing at which Mr Webber’s evidence can be cross-examined.

On making the application for early retirement Mr Webber signed a declaration that “he will inform Pensioner Services Section at the TPA if I begin employment in education at any time during his retirement.”  He therefore acted in accordance with this declaration by completing the Certificate of Re-Employment.   
Leaflet 192 was revised on a number of occasions during the material period. DfE rely on the fact that in the October 1996 edition there is an explanation of how an abatement calculation is made under the heading “Returning to work after age retirement”. However, in the same document under the heading “Your salary and re-employment” reads as follows:

“If you are re-employed full time, we will decide how much to reduce your pension when you first return to work. This amount will not change if you have a general salary increase. But if your salary increases, for example because you have been promoted or you received an allowance for special responsibilities, we will work out a new reduction in your pension.   
Mr Webber understood his responsibilities to be to inform TP when he first commenced work. This is understandable when judged against the information with which he was provided. He was informed in the December 1996 edition of the Leaflet 192 that the calculation re abatement occurs when he first returned to work. He only returned to employment once, in September 2001. Thereafter provided he only received general salary increases, his position would not change.  
At page 10 of the 1996 edition under the heading “What to do if you return to work” it is stated that “If you want to return to work after you retire, or if you have already done so, you should let customer direct pensions section know at once, even if you think the work will not affect your pension.” 
Under the heading “What happens if you do not tell us about returning to work it is stated:-
“If you return to work but do not tell us your pension will continue to be paid in full. When we do find out (from you, your employer, HM Inspector of Taxes or from the DSS) we will work out how the work has affected your pension. We will then take action to get back any amounts which you receive but were not entitled to.” 

Thus there is nothing within the 1996 edition of Leaflet 192 which indicates that Mr Webber ought to have taken action other than the action he actually did. He informed TP when he returned to work in accordance with how he understood the system to work. 
Although it is accepted that there has been subsequent re-wordings of Leaflet 192 there is nothing in the subsequent editions that contradicts the information in the 1996 edition. 
Although there are various calculations within the various editions of Leaflet 192 Mr Webber did not understand how these calculations referred to his position and was relying on TP to do so. He did not understand what the ‘salary of reference’ was and how it was calculated and therefore cannot have known he was being overpaid.  
Mr Webber understood that if he remained in the same pay scale then his position would not change. He accepts now the fact that a close reading of the letter dated 29 May 2001 states that he ought to have contacted the pension centre in April of the new tax year in the event that his employment were to continue. However this warning is not reproduced in Leaflet 192 or in the later letter in October 2001. 
Mr Webber contacted TP by telephone on either 28 or 29 May 2001 after he had been offered a new job. He was told that if his pay remained within the current banding his pension would not be affected. Given the contents of this conversation and the contents of Leaflet 192 Mr Webber’s conclusion is not unreasonable. It was as a result of this conversation that Mr Webber received the letter dated 29 May 2001 that contained the Certificate of Re-employment. 
He was not aware in 2001 of any inconsistency in what he was told on the telephone and the letters he received in May and October 2001. What was said to Mr Webber in the telephone call and his understanding of this telephone call is relevant to the question of whether Mr Webber has acted in some way “sharply”. Mr Webber’s understanding of matters from reading the October 1996 version of Leaflet 192 was then compounded by the telephone call to TP on 28 or 29 May 2001. 
It is possible that whoever spoke to Mr Webber was also guided by the October 1996 version of Leaflet 192. This information is also consistent with the information provided to Mr Webber in the letter of 22 October 2001.   
The information provided to Mr Webber was misleading. At the very least the information imparted was in a state of flux. If Leaflet 192 was not misleading , why does it appear to have gone through three separate formats in one calendar year? 
If Mr Webber was acting in some way unscrupulously he would not have contacted TP. He was not seeking to hide away or hope that his re-employment did not come to the attention of TP. His actions prove that he was doing the opposite.  
The Certificate of Re-employment signed by Mr Webber on 21 August 2001 has been counter-signed by a member of Durham County Council. Mr Webber was re-employed only once and therefore was under the misapprehension that he did not have to complete a new certificate every year. This form states that Mr Webber was not being re-employed on a supply basis. Mr Webber was therefore not hiding anything from TP. At all times TP had the information that it needed to abate the pension benefits. 
Mr Webber did not receive the letter of 22 October 2001 until after his 55th birthday which was on 10 February 2002. Mr Webber says he received the letter in the week commencing 11 February 2002. This letter states that:
“Should your circumstances change (i.e. 55th birthday, change of pay, increase in hours or annual salary) please complete the enclose certificate of re-employment and forward the whole certificate to your employer for completion and submission to Pensions Services. Failure to do so may result in an overpayment of annual pension which you will have to repay promptly.”
The letter does not say that in any event a new certificate of re-employment needs to be completed every tax year. Mr Webber did not throughout his re-employment increase his hours or increase his annual pay scale. 

Mr Webber can confirm that he read the first Leaflet 192 that was issued to him on 15 March 1997 and also that he read one of the subsequent editions that were issued to him on 29 May and 22 October 2001 but he cannot recall which one. Although he still had the original version when he rang TP in May 2001.      
Change of Position
Mr Webber was under the misapprehension that he had increased earning potential of £5,000 gross per year. He was re-employed in September 2001 and in July 2002 he moved house and took on a larger mortgage. 
He would not have moved house and increased his mortgage had he not been under the misapprehension that he was due his ongoing pension payment. He understood that this was an extra capacity that he would retain until he retired. The term of his mortgage had been set until his date of retirement. If the allegation against Mr Webber is that he indulged in sharp practice he would not have taken on this long term commitment in the hope that his situation was never discovered.
His regular mortgage payment increased to £161.16 a month. The additional mortgage was for £51,000. Mr Webber would not have incurred the additional expenditure had it not been for the overpayment of pension.

If Mr Webber were required to repay the money he could not afford to do so without moving property. It would therefore be inequitable given the circumstances. 
In terms of his decision to marry, Mr Webber is clear that had he not received the overpayment, he would not have felt himself in a position to marry a woman from the Ukraine and would not have incurred any expenditure referable to this. 
In February 2002, following his re-employment Mr Webber travelled to Donetsk to meet his future wife who he married on 7 December 2002. The marriage necessitated further expense as did his wife’s daughter who attended dance and gymnastic classes and is now at medical school in the UK.   
Mr Webber is clear that if it had not been for his understanding that he could continue to work and to receive his pension he would not have moved house and would not have married a woman from the Ukraine. The decision to marry (both him and his future wife), and consequently to move house, was based on his financial ability to support her and her daughter. Had Mr Webber not been in receipt of those payments he would not have made that commitment. 
In addition:

· In 2002 Mr Webber paid for his future wife and her daughter to travel from Kiev to the UK, which amounted to £1,100, including the cost of the  visas and he paid the fees for his wife to become a UK citizen in March 2006 (£468)
· In September 2002 Mr Webber obtained a further advance on his mortgage of £6,000 to pay for replacement windows and new kitchen units. His monthly mortgage repayments increased to £228.92.
· Between 2002 and 2010 he paid for several flights to Russia for, himself, his wife and her daughter to visit his wife's mother, which together with the cost of the visas and other associated travel costs amounted to £7,602.96. 
· He also paid for his wife to return to Russia for her father's funeral in 2004 (£900) and her mother's funeral in 2011 (£696.20).
· He financed private dental treatment for his wife between 2003 and 2006 which amounted to £1,000.

· He paid for dance and gymnastic classes for his step daughter and taxi fares to transport her to and from school amounting to £350.
· In March 2007 he obtained an increase to his mortgage of £60,000 because of the "substantial overspend" and because of the additional costs incurred as his wife could not, at first, work in the UK and then could only find part time work. His monthly mortgage repayments increased to £954.54. 
Statute of Limitation 
In a claim for restitution on the grounds of a payment that has been made by mistake, a Claimant, in consequence of section 32(1) of the Limitation Act 1980, would have six years from the date on which the Claimant could with reasonable diligence have discovered the mistake in payment within which to issue court proceedings for recovery. 

DfE knew in 2001 that Mr Webber had commenced employment, what his salary of reference was, that Mr Webber received a full time salary of £24,843 and that he was due to continue employment throughout the tax year and beyond.

Each September Durham County Council sent TP a list of employees receiving pensionable pay yet they took no action until 2009. It would have been diligent for Durham County Council to have read and acted upon the information provided between 2001 and 2009.     
In 2011 Mr Webber spoke with an employee of Durham County Council who confirmed that every September following the preceding tax year, Durham County Council send to TP a list of employees receiving pensionable pay. Thus, TP (in respect of the tax year 2002/2003) would have received the relevant information in September 2003.  
Further, Mr Webber made contact with TP in 2004 to advise them of a change of address and also that he had married. This was a further time that TP ought to have reasonably been aware that Mr Webber was working. Thus any claims for overpayments received by Mr Webber more than 6 years ago are now stale.

TP are seeking to recoup payments which have been made up to eleven years ago so Mr Webber is clearly disadvantage in terms of the production of evidence.    

Mr Webber made an innocent and understandable mistake (as did TP) more than eleven years ago and he is now being threatened with robust recovery action.    
DfE’s submissions
24. Submissions, insofar as they relate to the matter before me, given on behalf DfE are summarised below: 
· The Department’s stance does not depend upon the fact that Mr Webber was aware at the time that he was being overpaid and so engaged in ‘sharp practice’ but rather that he ought to have been aware that he was in danger of being overpaid by wilfully ignoring the information he had been given and to this extent is responsible for his predicament.
· Leaflet 192 was revised to reflect changes in the statutory provisions, including the amendments to the abatement provision which were effective from 1 September 1989. Mr Webber is relying on the wording of the 1996 version of Leaflet 192 to try to establish that his understanding was that he had to report his return to work once only, at the start, and that a general salary increase would not affect his position. The letter dated 29 May 2001 and the updated Leaflet 192 accurately reflected the new arrangements and it is noted that Mr Webber accepts that he should have followed its advice. 
· The 29 May 2001 letter said that following an abatement assessment TP would notify the member of the date from which their pension would be suspended, that the pension would be reinstated from the start of the next year and that “the whole process is then repeated each tax year for as long as your re-employment continues.” 
· Therefore, Mr Webber was clearly informed that his previous understanding of the process including how often he must report to TP was now incorrect.  A reasonable person newly in possession of this information would have been put on notice that their future pension would be assessed, that it could be abated, and that it would be assessed and potentially abated in each subsequent tax year. 
· It is Mr Webber’s failure to heed this advice which has caused this problem. The same letter has been issued to many people in Mr Webber’s position who interpreted it correctly and followed its guidance. The fact that this information was not repeated within Leaflet 192 does not invalidate or devalue it. 
· While it is not expected that Mr Webber should know how the salary of reference is calculated it was quoted on his retirement award papers and on the blank Certificates of Re-employment that Mr Webber was sent on 29 May 2001.
· It is accepted that the letter of 22 October 2001 did not state that Mr Webber must complete a new Certificate of Re-employment each year. But this letter was written in the knowledge that the letter dated 29 May 2001 had already made this point and in the belief that Mr Webber was therefore aware of it.
· DfE has considered the Limitation Act 1980 which refers to the limitation period which commences from the time the matter with reasonable diligence have been uncovered. In setting up a separate system for collecting the necessary information from members and their employers and by issuing the 29 May 2001 letter, the updated Leaflet 192 and the Certificate of Re-employment to Mr Webber, it is considered that the reasonable diligence required by the Limitation Act was exercised. In failing to respond appropriately to the letter, Mr Webber effectively thwarted the system set up specifically to obtain the information required for subsequent abatement assessments. Whether or not this was inadvertent the effect was the same. 
· The information provided by Durham County Council about all of their employees is historic information and so not appropriate for abatement.  
Oral Hearing

25. Mr Webber has asked me to hold an oral hearing. After carefully considering Mr Webber’s request, I have decided not to hold an oral hearing. My procedures are investigative as opposed to adversarial and I have the discretion to hold an oral hearing (even if one is not requested by either party) if I think it appropriate and subject to the requirement of fairness. Although there are disputed issues involved here, I considered that I could properly determine the case on the basis of the detailed written representations and the documentation submitted by the parties. Bearing in mind the passage of time since the events in question occurred and the tendency for memories to fade and for positions to harden, I did not consider that it would assist me, in reaching my determination, to hold an oral hearing in order to hear repeated orally the evidence submitted and the submissions made. I considered that a far more reliable basis on which to reach my conclusion was on the basis of the papers alone.

Conclusions

26. Mrs Justice Asplin ordered that the matter should be remitted back to this office to be reconsidered with particular reference to the following questions:
whether Mr Webber was aware that he had been overpaid and if so on what grounds;

whether Mr Webber ought to have been aware that he had been overpaid in the sense that he was guilty of sharp practice and if so, on what grounds; and  

in respect of each element of alleged expenditure to his detriment, whether it would have been incurred in any event and/or was a detriment and in each case provide reasons. 
27. TP is required to administer the Regulations and if a pension should have been abated it is, at least in the first instance, entitled to seek recovery of the overpaid amount. Mr Webber does not dispute that he has received an overpayment of pension. However, he challenges TP's right of recovery for a number of reasons.

28. His case, in essence, is that allowance should be made for the fact that he acted in good faith, that the information he received was not clear leading him to misunderstand what was required of him and that TP should have known his situation anyway. He also suggests that because of the provisions of the Limitation Act 1980 TP is not entitled to recover the full amount of the overpayment and that he has in any event “changed his position" in reliance on the mistaken overpayment and as a result it might be inequitable for him to have to repay the money.
29. TP provided Mr Webber with a considerable quantity of information over the years by different means and on different occasions. Ample information was contained in the declaration Mr Webber signed when he applied for his pension in 1997 and in the letter sent to him following his retirement with details of his pension and lump sum award to enable him to be aware of his obligations to notify TP if he was re-employed and that is precisely what Mr Webber did. 
30. Mr Webber argues, however, that the information given to him was not clear leading him to misunderstand what was required of him in the years following his re-employment. The October 1996 version of Leaflet 192 states “If you are re-employed full-time, we will decide how much to reduce your pension when you first return to work. This amount will not change if you have a general salary increase (my emphasis). But if your salary increases, for example because you have been promoted or have received an allowance for special responsibilities, we will work out the new calculation…” I can understand how this particular statement may have caused Mr Webber to believe that it was unnecessary to take any action if the only change in the salary he received was as a result of a general increase. 

31. However, further information was contained in the later edition of Leaflet 192 which was sent to Mr Webber with the letter dated 29 May 2001 which clearly stated  “If you are in teaching employment please complete Part A of the enclosed Certificate of Re-employment and forward the entire certificate to your employer for completion and submission to Pensioner Services...If, upon assessment, it is found that your retirement income will exceed your index linked salary of reference, we will calculate and inform you of the date at which your pension will be suspended...The pension(s) will be reinstated at the beginning of the following tax year and the whole process is then repeated each tax year, for as long as your employment continues...” 
32. Mr Webber has confirmed that he received and read the October 1996 version of Leaflet 192, that was issued to him on 15 March 1997, and also that he read one of the subsequent editions that were issued to him in May and October 2001 but he does not recall which one. Mr Webber contends however that he understood the correct information to be that stated in the October 1996 version of Leaflet 192 which was then compounded by the information he was given in a telephone call to TP on 28 or 29 May 2001. It is clear, and I accept, that Mr Webber did make a telephone call to TP which resulted in TP issuing the letter dated 29 May 2001. There is no dispute about this fact. 

33. The problem that arises is that there is no contemporaneous evidence of what was said in the telephone call. I therefore have to decide what, on the balance of probabilities, Mr Webber was told. Mr Webber says that he was told “if his pay remained within the current banding his pension would not be affected”. TP say they have no note about the content of the conversation. Having considered the wording used I find myself persuaded by the argument that it is possible that whoever spoke to Mr Webber was guided by information in the October 1996 version of Leaflet 192.   

34. Having found that Mr Webber was more likely than not given incorrect or misleading information on 28 or 29 May 2001 I go on to consider the events that followed the telephone conversation in order to reach a decision as to whether the later information given to Mr Webber was sufficiently misleading for Mr Webber him to have continued in the belief that he did not need to complete a Certificate of re-employment each tax year following his re-employment.    
35. The letter dated 29 May 2001 contains the correct information and clearly states “If your circumstances change during a tax year, please call our Pensioner Contact Centre on 01325 745547 and a new Certificate of re-employment will be issued. If your employment continues into the next tax year, you should also contact us again in April of that tax year and a new certificate specific to that assessment period will be issued.” I do not find this information at all misleading and, indeed, Mr Webber himself accepts now that “a close reading of the letter dated 29 May 2001states that he ought to have contacted the pension centre in April of the new tax year”. I therefore find that although, on the balance of probabilities, Mr Webber was given misleading information during a telephone call to TP on 28 or 29 May 2001 he was, within a very short time, in possession of correct information but he failed to heed the information he was given.
36. Mr Webber argues that although the 29 May 2001 letter stated that he ought to have contacted the pension centre in April of the new tax year in the event that his employment were to continue that this warning was not reproduced in the later letter in October 2001. Mr Webber says that he received the letter of 22 October 2001 in the week commencing 11 February 2002. The letter said “Should your circumstances change (i.e. 55th birthday, change of post, increase in hours or annual salary), please complete the enclosed Certificate of re-employment and forward the whole Certificate to your employer for completion and submission to Pensioner Services. Failure to do so may result in an overpayment of annual pension which you will have to repay promptly.” Mr Webber says he took no action because the letter arrived after his 55th birthday and therefore he saw no reason to complete the Certificate of re-employment enclosed with the letter. 

37. Whilst there is no specific mention in the letter of 22 October 2001 about contacting the Pension Centre each tax year I fail to understand why Mr Webber still took no action when he eventually received the letter, which he says arrived just a few days after his 55th birthday. Particularly as the letter was dated some months before he reached age 55 and clearly stated that a Certificate of re-employment needed to be completed at age 55. In my judgment, Mr Webber knew that he was required to complete a Certificate of re-employment and chose to ignore the instruction given to him in the letter of 22 October 2001.  
38. Mr Webber says that he did not understand what the salary of reference was or how it was calculated. All editions of Leaflet 192 quite clearly set out that the salary of reference is the highest annual salary received in the last three year period of pensionable employment prior to retirement. Whilst I can accept that Mr Webber may not have known the precise calculation for the salary of reference, although in my view it appears a quite straightforward calculation, he was not required to calculate his own salary of reference he simply needed to complete the Certificate of re-employment in order for TP to carry out the calculation. But in any event, if Mr Webber did not understand how the salary of reference was calculated or how it affected his pension payments I would have expected him to contact TP to find out, particularly given that the information he received made clear that the level of his salary was crucial, that the process of calculating the salary of reference was to be repeated each tax year and that the obligation to notify TP of any changes was on him.

39. I do not think that it can be said that the information provided by TP was misleading. Given the importance of the matter, it was for Mr Webber to check the position with TP to resolve any uncertainty or inconsistencies, rather than assume that there was no requirement for him to provide information. For these reasons I consider that Mr Webber knew that he was required to provide TP with information about his salary each tax year following his re-employment but failed to take the appropriate action.   
40. As to whether Mr Webber knew that he was being overpaid or ought to have been aware that he had been overpaid in the sense that he was guilty of sharp practice or, put another way, behaving in a way that was dishonest but not illegal, is in effect the same question. In my judgment Mr Webber’s failure to take the action he ought to have done cannot be regarded as a genuine oversight, because he had been provided with sufficient transparent information such that he ought reasonably to have known that he was required to provide TP with information about his salary each tax year following his re-employment. Although I accept that Mr Webber may not have known that an overpayment was definitely building up or, if he was so aware, how much the overpayment amounted to, he must have been aware that there was a possibility that this could happen yet he still failed to furnish TP with the necessary information. If an action is disingenuous it is reasonable to regard it as sharp practice, although in this instance I would not go so far as to suggest that. However, I am persuaded that at the very least Mr Webber “turned a blind eye”, for whatever reason, in the hope that if there was an overpayment building up that it  would go unnoticed. 

41. Mr Webber claims that he is protected by the Limitation Act 1980 on TP's claim for restitution of the overpayments. If TP had issued proceedings in court, Mr Webber would have been entitled to raise a Limitation Act defence. As I am obliged to decide cases in accordance with legal principles (except in cases of "pure maladministration and consequential injustice" which is not the case here) it would not be right for me, by not upholding Mr Webber’s complaint to, effectively, grant a remedy to TP (by implying that it was entitled to recovery of the full amount) if it would not have been entitled to such a remedy had the matter been before the court.

42. The Limitation Act governs time limits for bringing different types of claims in the courts and the basic time limit is six years from the date when the cause of action accrued. However, under section 32 (1) (c) the limitation period is extended in the case of an action arising as a result of a mistake. If TP had issued proceedings in court it would have been able to argue that the time for issuing proceedings against Mr Webber started to run from the date when it could, with reasonable diligence, have discovered the mistake.

43. TP demanded repayment of the overpayments from Mr Webber on 24 November 2009 following receipt of information from his employer about his service and salary in January 2009. On the basis of this information TP determined that it had, since 2001, mistakenly made pension payments to Mr Webber in excess of his entitlement. Prior to that it relied on the fact that it had provided Mr Webber with considerable information as to his responsibilities and on the fact that the onus was on him to bring his circumstances to its attention. It took action when it received the relevant details.
44. Mr Webber argues that it would have been diligent for TP to have read and acted upon the information provided by Durham County Council between 2001 and 2009 yet they took no action until 2009. As previously advised by TP the Annual Return completed by employers each year does not provide the necessary information required in order for TP to properly establish that an overpayment is being made. It was not until 2009 that the procedures were amended which is when the information came to light. But in any event the onus was on Mr Webber to keep TP informed by way of completion of the Certificate of re-employment each tax year and that responsibility cannot be shifted to TP simply because Mr Webber failed to heed the information he was given.         
45. Given that I have found that Mr Webber ought reasonably to have known what his obligations were, it follows that I consider that TP acted reasonably in relying on the provisions of the Regulations and could not reasonably have discovered the mistake earlier than it did. "Reasonable diligence" means just that and does not require that exceptional or excessive measures be taken. It seems to me therefore that if TP had issued proceedings in court, the court would have been unlikely to determine that its claim (or part of it) was defeated by a limitation defence.
46. I now consider the expenditure Mr Webber says he incurred as a result of the overpayment of pension and in particular whether such expenditure would have would have been incurred in any event. 
47. Mr Webber submits that he made a number of substantial one off and repeated purchases and on several occasions increased the amount of his mortgage on the basis that he was receiving both his salary and his pension from the Scheme. Mr Webber also claims that he would not have married his wife “had it not been for his understanding that he could continue to work and to receive his pension he would not have moved house and would not have married a woman from the Ukraine.” 
48. Change of position, which has developed from the equitable doctrine of estoppel, enables the recipient of an overpayment to claim that, in reliance on the overpayment made, he changed his position so that it would now be unfair to have to repay the money, either in full or in part. Case law has established certain principles: the recipient must have been unaware that overpayments had been made; there must be a causal link between the change of position and receipt of the overpayment (i.e. but for the overpayment the expenditure would not have been incurred); and the action taken must be irreversible. The end result being that it would be inequitable to seek full recovery.

49. Mr Webber’s decision to marry was not action he took in reliance on maladministration as he clearly acted on his own volition and therefore even if I had found maladministration, which I have not, there would be no causal link. Insofar as the remaining expenditure is concerned as I have already found that Mr Webber was aware, or ought to have been aware, strictly the defence of change of position falls away.
50. However, as directed I have considered the remaining expenditure identified by Mr Webber.  Mr Webber says that in reliance of receiving the additional income, which amounted to approximately £5,000 each year, he moved house in July 2002 which increased his monthly mortgage repayment to £161.16, following which, in September 2002, he obtained a further advance on his mortgage of £6,000 to pay for replacement windows and new kitchen units which increased his monthly mortgage repayments increased to £228.92. Finally, in March 2007 he obtained another increase to his mortgage of £60,000 which increased his monthly repayment to around £960 per month. 
51. Given that the first two increases to the mortgage repayments were relatively low it is arguable that Mr Webber could have afforded such increases to his outgoings even without the additional pension payments. Insofar as the final advance on his mortgage is concerned it may be possible to mount an argument that Mr Webber could not have afforded such a large increase without the additional pension payments. However, given that Mr Webber openly admits that the final advance on his mortgage was some £60,000 and that he needed these monies to finance the "substantial overspend” because of the additional costs incurred as his wife could not, at first, work in the UK and then could only find part time work there is clearly no causal link between receiving the additional pension and the actual expenditure. Moreover, it seems to me highly likely that this is action Mr Webber would have needed to take in any event.   
52. In addition Mr Webber says that he paid nearly £10,000 in relation to flights for his wife and her daughter to visit close members of his wife’s family in Kiev and Russia and ultimately for his wife to return to Russia for her parents’ funerals. Although I note that Mrs Webber’s mother’s funeral was not until sometime after TP had first discovered the overpayment, and so any cost incurred as a result could not in any event be included in a defence of change of position, I remain of the opinion that there can be no causal link between the change of position and the receipt of the overpayment. Sadly, Mrs Webber’s parents would have fallen ill in any event and I am not persuaded that Mr Webber would not anyway have incurred this expenditure given the family connection and circumstances.
53. As regards the other purchases, Mr Webber says that he financed private dental treatment for his wife between 2003 and 2006, which amounted to £1,000, he paid for dance and gymnastic classes for his step daughter and also for taxi fares to transport her to and from school amounting to £350. Given that Mr Webber has not provided me with any documentary evidence to validate his claim in respect of these purchases I am unable to reach a safe conclusion in relation to this expenditure. 

54. Having considered Mr Webber’s complaints in the light of the additional submissions put forward on behalf of Mr Webber and by DfE, and with particular reference to the questions set out in paragraph 26, I do not uphold this complaint.

Jane Irvine 
Deputy Pensions Ombudsman

24 January 2014
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